
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHER DISTRICT OF OHIO 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 

TED CHOUKALAS, on behalf of himself 

and others similarly situated, 

7805 Kenton Ave. 

Parma, OH 44129 

 

  Plaintiff, 

 

 vs. 

 

CUYAHOGA COUNTY 

c/o County Executive, Armond Budish 

2079 East Ninth Street 

Cleveland, OH 44115   

 

                      Defendant. 

 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

 

CIVIL ACTION 

 

CASE NO.   

 

 

JUDGE 

 

MAGISTRATE JUDGE 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

 

JURY DEMAND ENDORSED HEREON 

 

 

 

 

Plaintiff, Ted Choukalas, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated (the 

“Putative Class”), bring this action against Defendant Cuyahoga County (the “County” or 

“Defendant”), seeking all available relief under the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (“FLSA”), 

29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq.  Plaintiff’s FLSA claims are asserted as a collective action pursuant to 

29 U.S.C. §216(b).  The following allegations are based on personal knowledge as to Plaintiff’s 

own conduct and the conduct and acts of others. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 1. This Court has federal question jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 

16(b) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §216(b) and 28 U.S.C. §1331. 

 2. Venue is proper in this forum pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 
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PARTIES 

 3. At all times relevant herein, Plaintiff was a citizen of the United States and residents 

of Cuyahoga County, Ohio. 

 4. At all times relevant herein, Plaintiff was an employee of Defendant within the 

meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 203(e). 

 5. At all times relevant herein, Defendant was an employer within the meaning of 29 

U.S.C. § 203(s)(1)(C). 

 6. Written consents to join this action as to Count I, as and when executed by other 

individual plaintiffs, will be filed pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 

 7. At all times relevant herein, Plaintiff was employed by the County as an hourly 

non-exempt employee in Cuyahoga County. 

 (Systematic Failure of County’s Payroll System Results in Unpaid And Late-Paid 

Overtime In Violation of the FLSA) 

 

 8. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and all other former and current 

hourly non-exempt employees of Cuyahoga County who worked overtime during the last three 

years (the “Overtime Class”).   

9. At all relevant times herein, the County has failed to pay Plaintiff and the Putative 

Overtime Class members all of their overtime and/or has paid their overtime late.   

 10. The County’s failure to pay Plaintiff and the Putative Class members all of their 

overtime and/or pay them their overtime timely is the result of a systematic and widespread failure 

in the County’s payroll system.   

 11. The County is aware of the systematic and widespread failure with its payroll 

system.   
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 12. The County’s knowing and willful failure to correct the systematic and widespread 

failure with its payroll system to ensure that Plaintiff and the Putative Overtime Class members 

are getting paid for all of their overtime in a timely manner violates the FLSA.   

(The County’s Violations of the FLSA Are Willful) 

13. Defendant knowingly and willfully engaged in the above-mentioned violations of 

the FLSA.   

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

14. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully rewritten 

herein.   

15. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and the Putative Class members 

who have been, are being, or will be adversely affected by Defendant’s unlawful conduct described 

above.   

16. Plaintiff seeks to represent the following class for whom Plaintiff seeks the right to 

send “opt-in” notices to the Putative Class, of which Plaintiff is a member:   

• All former and current hourly non-exempt employees of Cuyahoga 

County who worked overtime during the last three years (the 

“Overtime Class”).   

 

17. Plaintiff is unable to state at this time the exact size of the potential class, but upon 

information and belief, avers that it consists of more than 2,000 persons.   

18. This action is maintainable as an “opt-in” collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b) as to claims for: (1) unpaid and late paid overtime compensation; (2) liquidated damages; 

and (3) attorneys’ fees and costs under the FLSA.  In addition to Plaintiff, numerous current and 

former employees are similarly situated with regard to their wages and claims for unpaid wages 
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and damages.  Plaintiff is representative of other employees and is acting on behalf of their interests 

as well as his own in bringing this action. 

19. These similarly situated employees are known to Defendant and are readily 

identifiable through Defendant’s payroll and other records.  These individuals may readily be 

notified of this action, and allowed to opt in pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), for the purpose of 

collectively adjudicating their claims for: (1) unpaid and late paid overtime compensation; (2) 

liquidated damages; and (3) attorneys’ fees and costs under the FLSA.   

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I 

(Violations of the FLSA) 

 

20. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if fully rewritten 

herein.  

21. Defendant is an employer covered by the minimum wage and overtime 

requirements set forth in the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”). 

22. As employees for Defendants, Plaintiff and the Putative Class members worked 

hours in excess of the maximum weekly hours permitted under the FLSA but were:  (1) not paid 

overtime for those excess hours and/or were not paid overtime for those excess hours in the pay 

period for the workweek in which the overtime was earned.  

23. Plaintiff and the Putative Class members do not qualify for an exemption from the 

minimum wage and overtime obligations imposed by the FLSA. 

24. Throughout Plaintiff’s and the Putative Class members’ employment, Defendant 

has known that Plaintiff and the Putative Class members are not exempt from the minimum wage 

and overtime obligations imposed by the FLSA.  Defendant has known that it is required to pay 

Plaintiff and the Putative Class for all hours worked, including hours worked in excess of forty 
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(40) in any workweek in the pay period for the workweek in which the time was worked, and that 

overtime is to be paid at a rate of time and a half of each employee’s regular rate of pay.  

25. Because the Defendant’s failure to pay such wages was willful pursuant to 29 

U.S.C. § 255(a), Plaintiff and the Putative Class are entitled to these wages dating back three years. 

26. The identity of all the Putative Class members is unknown at this time, but is known 

to Defendant, and is set forth in Defendant’s records.  Plaintiff is entitled to review these records 

and immediately identify the Putative Class members who have a right to join this collective action. 

27. The exact amount of compensation, including overtime compensation that 

Defendant has failed to pay the Plaintiff and the Putative Class is unknown at this time, as many 

of the records necessary to make such precise calculations are in the possession of Defendant, or 

were not kept by Defendant. 

28. The FLSA requires employers to make, keep, and preserve records of the wages, 

hours, and other conditions and practices of employment, and to preserve such records.  Plaintiff 

is entitled to review their records of hours worked to determine the exact amount of overtime and 

minimum wages owed by Defendant.  Absent Defendant keeping these records as required by law, 

Plaintiff and the Putative Class are entitled to submit their information about the number of hours 

worked. 

29. Defendant’s failure to pay Plaintiff and the Putative Class for all hours worked in a 

timely basis as required by law is not based on good faith or reasonable grounds, or a belief that 

such failure is not in violation of FLSA.  Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), Plaintiff and the Putative 

Class are therefore entitled to liquidated damages in an amount equal to the compensation and/or 

overtime which they have not been paid or were not paid in the pay period for the workweek in 

which such overtime was earned.   
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30. Plaintiff has been required to file this action as the result of Defendant’s actions in 

failing to pay Plaintiff and the Putative Class proper compensation.  As such, Plaintiff and the 

Putative Class are entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs incurred pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §216(b). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests judgment against Defendant as follows: 

1. Issue an order permitting this litigation to proceed as a collective action pursuant to 

29 U.S.C. 216(b);  

2. Awarding Plaintiff and the Putative Class members their unpaid wages including 

overtime wages as to be determined at trial together with any liquidated damages allowed by law;  

3. For a judgment against Defendant for all damages, relief, or any other recovery 

whatsoever;  

4. Awarding Plaintiff and the Putative Class members their reasonable costs and 

attorney fees necessarily incurred herein; and 

5. Awarding Plaintiff and the Putative Class members such other and further relief as 

the Court deems just and proper. 

 

      Respectfully submitted, 

      

        /s/ David J. Steiner                 _ 

      David J. Steiner (0075217) 

      Anthony J. Lazzaro (0077962)    

      The Lazzaro Law Firm, LLC 

      920 Rockefeller Building 

      614 W. Superior Avenue 

Cleveland, Ohio 44113 

      Phone: 216-696-5000 

      Facsimile: 216-696-7005 

      anthony@lazzarolawfirm.com  

      david@lazzarolawfirm.com 

      Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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JURY DEMAND 

 

  Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all eligible claims and issues. 

 

 
  /s/ David J. Steiner   

      One of the Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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